UNITED STATES

NUCLEAR RECGULATORY COMMISSION

REGION |
611 PARK AVENUE
KING OF PRUSSIA, PENNSYLVANIA 19306

Isomedix . License No. 29=-15364-01
Attention: Mr. George Dietz Inspection No. 75-01

President
25 Eastman's Road
P.0., Box 177
Parsippany, New Jersey 07054

Gentlemen:

This refers to the inspection conducted by Mr. Allen of this office
on January 21, 1975 of activities authorized by AEC License No.
29-15364~01 and to the discussions of our findings held by !ir. Allen
with yourself and Mr. Masefield at the conclusion of the inspection.

The area examinad during this inspection was limited to the operation
of the irradiator as described by your application dated August 8, 1974
and your letters dated November 15, 1974 an' December 6, 1974.

Within this area, the inspection consisted of selective examinations

of procedures and representative records, interviews with personnel,
measurements made by the inspector, and observations by the inspector.

Within the scope of this inspection, no violations or safety
items were observed.

In accordance with Section 2.790 of the AEC's "Rules of Practice",
Part 2, Title 10, Code of Federal Regulations, a copy of this
letter and the enclosed inspection report will be placed in the
NRC's Public Document Room. If this report contains any information
that you (or your contractor) believe to be proprietary, it is
necessary that you make a written application within 20 days to
this office to withhold such information from public disclosure.
Any such application must include a full statement of the

reasons on the basis of which it is claimed that the information
is proprietary, and should be prepared so that proorictary
information identified in the application is contained in a
separate part of the document. If we do not hear from you in

this regard within the specified period, the report will be

placed in the Public Document Room,
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No reply to this letter is required; however, should you have any
questions concerning this inspection, we will be pleased to discuss
them with you.

Sinccrelg.

,/’5"’
) S7Z
P4ul R. Nelson, Chief

" Radiological & Environmental
Protection Branch

Enclosure:
14E Inspection Report No. 75-01

bee (w/encls):

I4C Chief, FS&EB

I&E: HQ (4)

L:D/D for Fuels and Mat'l
PDR

NSIC

I14E Files

DR Central Files

State of New Jersey
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e UNITED STATES

CLEAR REGULATORY COMM.SSIL
REGICN |
631 PARK AVENUE
KING OF PRUSSIA, PENNSYLVANIA 19406

JAY 31 1575
Isomedix Licenss No. 29-15364-01
Attention: Mr. George Dietz Inspection No. 75-01
President
25 Eastman's Road
P.0. Box 177
Parsippany, New Jersey 07054
Gentlemen:

This refers to the inspection conducted by Mr. Allen of this office
on January 21, 1975 of activities authorized by AEC License No.
29-15364~01 and to the discussions of our findings held by Mr. Allen
with yourself and Mr. Masefield at the conclusion of the inspection.

The area examined during this inspection was limited to the operation
of the irradiator as described by your application dated August 8, 1974
and your letters dated November 15, 1974 and December 6, 1974,

Within this area, the inspection consisted of selective examinations

of procedures and represenrative records, interviews with nerennnal,
weuwllcueiis waue vy tne iaspector, and observations by the inspector.

Within the scope of this inspection, no violations or safety
items were observed.

In accordance with Section 2.790 of the AEC's "Rules of Practice",
Part 2, Title 10, Code of Federal Regulations, a copy of this
letter and the enclosed inspection report will be placed in the
NRC's Public Document Room. If this report contains any information
that you (or your contractor) believe to be proprietary, it is
necessary that you make a written application within 20 days to
this office to withhold such informacion from public disclosure.
Any such application must include a full statement of the

reasons on the basis of which it is claimed that the information
is proprietary, and should be prepared so that proprietary
information identified in the application is contained in a
Separate part of the document. If we do not hear from you in
this regard within the specified period, the report will be
placed in the Public Document Room.
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No reply to this letter is required; however, should vou have any
questions concerning this inspection, we will be pleased to discuss
them with you.

Sincerely,

) /St

f,\ R. Nelson, Chief
Radiological & Enviroamental
Protection Branch

Enclosure:
I4E Inspection Report Ne. 75-01

bee (w/encls):

I¢7 Chief, FS&EB

I&E:HQ (4)

L:D/D for Fuels and Mat'l
PDR

NSIC

I&E Files

DR Central Files

State of New Jersey




